**THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS**

APPEAL FROM THE LEXINGTON COUNTY COURT OF COMMON PLEAS
Walton J. McLeod, Circuit Court Judge
Case No.: 2022-CP-32-01932
Appellate Case No. 2025-000905

Bundy McDonald, LLC, Appellant,

vs.

WECO River District, LLC, Respondent.

RECEIVED

AUG 25 2025

SC Court of Appeals

APPELLANT'S INITIAL BRIEF

BUNDY MCDONALD, LLC

s/W.H. Bundy, Jr.

W. H. Bundy, Jr., Esq. (SC Bar #1012)

1516 Old Trolley Road, 2nd Floor

Summerville, SC 29485

Phone: 888-552-1559

walter@bundymcdonald.com

Attorneys for Appellant

August 22, 2025

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- (1) The Trial Judge committed a errors of law in failing to apply the plain language of an unambiguous contract between Appellant and Respondent.**
- (2) The Trial Judge in this non-jury case committed errors of law in failing to make separate findings of fact and conclusions of law in accordance with the mandate of Rule 52, SCRPC.**
- (3) The Trial Judge committed errors of law in failing to award pre-judgment interest.**

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The action which is the subject of this appeal was originally filed by Appellant, Bundy McDonald, LLC, (hereinafter sometimes called “Appellant or Law Firm”) on November 17, 2021. The action arose out of an unpaid legal fee earned pursuant to relief obtained in an arbitration (“The Arbitration”) that Law Firm was hired to take over and represent the Respondent, WECO River District, LLC (hereinafter sometimes called “Respondent” or “Client”).¹ The Complaint contained a single cause of action for breach of contract. (R. p.). On January 22, 2022, Respondent filed an Answer to the Complaint that contained a general denial. (R. p.). The Answer did not contain any counter-claims. Id. On February 14, 2022, Respondent filed an Amended Answer. (R. p.). The Amended Answer did not contain any counter-claims. Id. In the stead of the any counter-claims, Respondent asserted seven (7) affirmative defenses. Id.

This matter was tried before the Trial Court on September 26, 2024 (R. p.). On March 13, 2025, the Trial Judge issued an order in favor of Respondent finding that the

¹ The arbitration was pending when Appellant was hired. (Plaintiff’s Exs. 1 and 4)(R. pp.). Respondent was represented by Henry Brown Esq. at the time of the filing of the arbitration. Id.

contingency Fee had not been earned AND that Appellant had been “reasonably compensated in full for its services.” (R. pp.).

On March 24, 2025, Appellant filed a timely motion to alter or amend the March 13, 2024 Order (R. p.). On April 8, 2025, the Trial Court entered an order denying the Appellant’s motion to alter or amend. (R. p.). On May 8, 2025, Appellant filed its Notice of Appeal to this Court.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

On November 29, 2018, Appellant and Respondent entered into a valid and enforceable contract based upon an hourly fee arrangement (“Hourly Fee Agreement”) (Plaintiff Ex. 4) (R. p.). The Hourly Fee Agreement was for The Arbitration which arose out of a construction dispute between Respondent and its general contractor for an apartment project.

On November 15, 2019, the parties entered into an amended valid and enforceable contract based upon an hourly fee arrangement and a reverse contingency fee (“The Contract”). (Plaintiff’s Ex. 7)(R. p.). The Contract superseded and replaced the Hourly Fee Agreement. The Contract required Respondent to pay hourly fees to be capped at \$100,000.00 and “25% of any reduction of the total amount of claims made by the Contractor...AND 25% of any in kind settlement or relief obtained AND the same percentage of any funds actually collected whether by settlement or judgment...” (Id.)(emphasis supplied). The total fee was to be capped at \$500,000.00. (Id.).

On December 23, 2019, the general contractor in The Arbitration filed a mechanic’s lien claim in the amount of \$3,981,919.92. (Plaintiff’s Ex. 8)(R. p.). On February 2, 2020,

the general contractor in The Arbitration filed an amended claim in the amount of \$4,029,749.43. (Plaintiff's Ex. 9)(R. p.).

On February 27, 2020, the arbitrator in The Arbitration entered a final scheduling order that required Respondent to submit a "Final Claim" by March 16, 2020. (Plaintiff's Ex. 10)(R. p.).

The Arbitration was held on July 7, 8, 14, and 15 in Summerville, SC. (Plaintiff's Ex. 11)(R. p.). The Arbitration resulted in an award to the general contractor in the amount of \$2,640,715.80 ("Arbitration Award"). (Id.). The Arbitration Award reduced the general contractor's claim by \$1,389,033.79. (Id.) (R. pp.). This necessarily provided relief to Respondent in the same amount. (Id.) (R. pp.).

On February 17, 2021, Plaintiff issued an invoice to Respondent for \$347,258.45. (the "Fee") (Plaintiff's Ex. 15)(R. p.). This amount was based upon The Contract between the parties requiring a fee of "25% of any reduction of the total amount of claims made by the Contractor...**AND** 25% of any in kind settlement or relief obtained" by Appellant for Respondent in The Arbitration. (Plaintiff's Ex. 7)(R. p.)(emphasis supplied). It is uncontradicted that Appellant obtained for Respondent the relief upon which the Fee was based in The Arbitration.

Respondent failed to pay the invoice in full. Moreover, the Fee did not reach the \$500,000.00 cap negotiated by the parties.

At trial, Appellant presented the testimony of Thomas A. Pope, Esq.- a licensed South Carolina lawyer with 50 years of experience. Mr. Pope was qualified without objection as an expert in "attorney fee disputes, legal fee contracts, and reasonable

attorneys fees.” (Transcript p. 24)(R. p.). He testified that he reviewed all the relevant information and opined that the Fee was owed in full.²

Respondent did not provide any witness qualified to perform any such analysis or give such testimony.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

The matter before the Trial Court was a non-jury matter. This breach of contract action is an action at law. Respondent did not plead any counter-claims. This Court’s scope of review is limited to correction of errors of law, and factual findings are reviewed for any evidence which supports the Trial Court’s finding. *See Townes Associates, Ltd. v. City of Greenville*, 266 S.C. 81, 86, 221 S.E.2d 773, 775 1976) (“In an action at law, on appeal of a case tried without a jury, the findings of fact of the judge will not be disturbed upon appeal unless found to be without evidence which reasonably supports the judge’s findings.”); *Myers v. Nat’l Sales Ins. Co.*, 362 S.C. 41, 44, 606 S.E.2d 486, 488 (Ct. App. 2004); *Osterneck v. Osterneck*, 374 S.C. 573, 577, 649 S.E.2d 127, 129 (Ct. App. 2007) (“In a law case tried by the judge without a jury the standard of appellate review is limited to a correction of errors of law and a determination if there is any evidence to support the factual findings of the trial judge.”).

“Questions of law, however, are reviewed de novo.” *Mozingo & Wallace Architects, L.L.P. v. Grand*, 379 S.C. 478, 483, 666 S.E.2d 267, 270 (Ct. App. 2008).

² Mr. Pope gave credit due for the \$150,000.00 voluntarily paid by Defendant on May 24, 2022 (Plaintiff’s Ex. 20)(R. p.).

The construction of a clear and unambiguous contract is a question of law for the court. *S.C. Dep't of Natural Resources v. Town of McClellanville*, 345 S.C. 617, 550 S.E.2d 299 (2001).

LEGAL ARGUMENT

I. The Trial Judge committed a errors of law in failing to apply the plain language of an unambiguous contract between Appellant and Respondent.

“The elements for breach of contract are the existence of the contract, its breach, and the damages caused by such breach.” *Branche Builders, Inc. v. Coggins*, 386 S.C. 43, 48, 686 S.E.2d 200, 202 (Ct. App. 2009).

The only party in this action to bring a breach of contract claim in this action is Appellant. It is undisputed that the parties entered into a valid and enforceable contract. (Plaintiff's Ex. 7)(R. p.). It is undisputed that Appellant obtained the relief upon which the Fee was based for Respondent in the Arbitration. (Plaintiff's Ex. 11)(R. p.). It is undisputed that Respondent has not paid Appellant in full—resulting in damages to the Appellant in the amount of \$197,258.45.³ There was no claim—nor any finding—that The Contract was ambiguous.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Trial Court ruled that Appellant failed to meet a “contingency” in The Contract in order for the Fee to be due. The Trial Court ruled that Appellant did not obtain a “final outcome”. This was error. Nowhere in The Contract do the words “final outcome” appear. (Plaintiff's Ex. 7)(R. p.). The Contract expressly stated

³ This amount is calculated by the total Fee of \$347,258.45 (R. p.) minus the \$150,000.00 (R. p.) paid by Respondent. This amount does not include pre-judgment interest on the sum certain amount pursuant to S.C. Ann. Section 34-31-20—as will be discussed below.

it was for “an arbitration.” (Plaintiff’s Ex. 7)(R. p.). Appellant represented Respondent in The Arbitration and obtained a reduction of claim and relief for the Respondent upon which the Fee was based. Notwithstanding the reduction and relief obtained and the plain language of The Contract, the Trial Court incorrectly ruled that Appellant must continue to arbitrate new matters—apparently in perpetuity. Indeed, the Arbitrator expressly ruled that certain issues/claims were not ripe for The Arbitration for which Appellant agreed to represent Respondent. (Plaintiff’s Exs. 13 and 14)(R. pp.). Nothing in the Contract, however, required Appellant to continue to arbitrate matters that were not subject to The Arbitration upon which the Fee and The Contract were based.

The sole witness for Respondent explained on direct testimony exactly what happened after The Arbitration upon which the Fee was based and testified as follows:

Q. And the SCDOT claim as issued by this clarification on the last page, can you read that into the record, please? The last page of Exhibit No. 10, second to last paragraph.

A. With the exception of any claim by SCDOT for damage to its roadway, which is not ripe for review, and other than those characterized in the exhibits presented by WECO during this proceeding, no evidence or claims for defective work were presented by WECO and were considered or encompassed by the arbitration award.

Q. And that's February 15, 2021, right?

A. Right.

Q. Now, what was your understanding as to whether or not you could continue to pursue the SCDOT claim with the same impound arbitrator? What was your understanding of that?

A. Well, at this time, Mr. Bundy told us that we could not pursue it with the same arbitrator. And as you've heard, by this time, we were, also, talking with our longstanding counsel, Mr. Brown, and he was telling us different, that that's not at all how he interpreted this document.

Q. Okay. Now, how did -- tell us -- this is important, so tell us how those conversations evolved.

A. With Mr. Brown?

Q. With Mr. Bundy and then Mr. Brown.

A. I don't recall if it was right before this or right after, but Mr. Bundy explains very clearly that he would not be a part of any other arbitration or hearing that had to do with SCDOT or the defective work. He clearly said that was not in his scope and he would not have any part of it.

(Trial Transcript, pp. 97-98) (R. pp.).

The Trial Court erred in failing to enforce the plain language of The Contract. The fact that The Contract is one for legal services does not provide the Trial Court authority to ignore its plain language. The Order(s) of the Trial Court should be reversed and judgment entered in favor of Appellant in the amount of \$197,258.45 plus pre-judgment interest.

II. The Trial Judge in this non-jury case committed errors of law in failing to make separate findings of fact and conclusion of law in accordance with the mandate of Rule 52, SCRPC.

Rule 52, SCRPC, requires that a trial court—sitting without a jury—“shall find the facts specially and state separately its conclusions of law thereon.” The Trial Court in this instance, however, failed to make such separate findings of fact and conclusions of law. Appellant has been prejudiced by this failure due and owing to the impossibility for Appellant or this Court to determine which finding the Trial Court considered to be a finding of fact or conclusion of law. As such, the standard of review applicable to this appeal would be pure speculation—vitiating the very purpose of the requirements of Rule 52, SCRPC.

III. The Trial Judge committed an error of law in failing to award pre-judgment interest.

The amount of the Fee was a sum certain. As such, Appellant is entitled to pre-judgment interest pursuant to S.C. Code Ann. Section 34-31-20.

The Trial Court erred in refusing to award pre-judgment interest in the amount of \$78,808.05. (Trial Transcript, p. 50) (R. p.).

CONCLUSION

For the reasons stated herein, the Orders of the Trial Court should be reversed and judgment entered in favor of Appellant against Respondent for the full amount of its claim of \$276,066.05. This matter should be remanded to the Trial Court for the sole purpose of calculating pre-judgment interest through the date of the remittitur from this Court.