RECEIVED

Mar 27 2026

SC Court of Appeals

**THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals**

APPEAL FROM LEXINGTON COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

Walton J. McLeod, Circuit Court Judge

Case No. 2022-CP-32-01932
Appellate Case No. 2025-000905

Bundy McDonald, LLC,

Appellant,

vs.

WECO River District, LLC,

Respondent.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

Henry P. Wall, S.C. Bar No. 5797
P.O. Box 61110 (29260)
Columbia, South Carolina
(803) 252-7693
HWall@brunerpowell.com

Attorney for Respondent

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

ARGUMENT

I. THERE IS SUBSTANTIAL EVIDENCE IN THE RECORD TO SUPPORT THE TRIAL COURT’S FINDING THAT APPELLANT DID NOT MEET THE CONTINGENCY. THEREFORE, THE COURT DID NOT MISINTERPRET THE CONTRACT.

A. A Lawyer’s Contingency Fee is Earned Upon a Successful Result or Outcome of a Case.

A contingency fee is due upon the conclusion of a case by settlement or judgment, not an interim, preliminary, or tentative determination. Appellant’s fee agreement (R.p.273), the letter of explanation from Appellant (R.p. 271.), and the body of case law, in South Carolina and elsewhere, require that a final result, by settlement or judgment, as the trigger for a client’s obligation to pay a lawyer’s contingent fee.

Justice Toal defined the essence of a contingent fee agreement in *Leatherwood v. Estate of Jones*:

A contingent fee is one which is made to depend upon the success or failure in the effort to enforce a right, whether doubtful or not.” *Adair v. First Nat. Bank*, 139 S.C. 1, 5, 137 S.E. 192, 193 (1927); *see also City of Burlington v. Dague*, 505 U.S. 557, 560–61, 112 S.Ct. 2638, 2640, 120 L.Ed.2d 449, 455 (1992) (“Fees for legal services in litigation may

be either ‘certain’ or ‘contingent’ {or some hybrid of the two}. A fee is certain if it is payable without regard to the outcome of the suit; it is contingent if the obligation to pay depends on a particular result’s being obtained.”); *Alexander v. Inman*, 903 S.W.2d 686, 696 (Tenn. Ct. App. 1995) (“Most jurisdictions would agree that a contingent fee arrangement is an agreement for legal services under which the amount or payment of the fee depends, in whole or in part, on the outcome of the proceedings for which the services were rendered.”); *Martin v. Buckman*, 883 P.2d 185, 192 (Okla. App. 1994) (“In simple terms, a contingent fee contract is one in which a client engages an attorney to represent her in the recovery of, say, a certain sum of money she claims is owed to her, and the attorney agrees to accept for his services a certain percentage of what he recovers either by settlement or by judgment.”); Black’s Law Dictionary 614 (6th ed. 1990)(defining “contingent fees” as “arrangement between attorney and client whereby attorney agrees to represent client with compensation to be a percentage of the amount recovered . . .”). . . . As the above authorities explain, a contingent fee agreement *necessarily requires that a successful result be achieved before the fee is paid.* (emphasis added).

Leatherwood v. Estate of Jones, 329 S.C. 97, 103, 495 S.E.2d 450, 453-54 (1998).

The Amended Fee Agreement, prepared by Appellant, imposes these requirements. It established a hybrid hourly fee agreement with fixed fees up to a cap of \$100,000.00 with a contingent fee component based upon 25% of a reduction of the “claim(s) made by Contractor” and 25% of “any amount of in kind *settlement or relief obtained* and the same percentage of any funds *actually collected*, whether by *settlement or judgment*” (emphasis added). Appellant’s agreement required a result for Appellant’s scope of work whether by settlement or judgment.

The letter of explanation from Appellant to Respondent (“Client”) included this illustration: “if an arbitrator awards or a settlement is reached *so that client must pay*” and if the Client makes a claim “and the arbitrator awards or a settlement is reached. . . then attorney will be entitled to . . . 25% of the of the *recovered claim*.”. The contingency is a *recovered claim* (the contingency component as it relates to Respondent’s counterclaims) or Respondent’s *obligation to pay* (the reverse contingency component as it relates to the defense of claims). The Amended Fee Agreement required a final result before any contingent fee is due or earned by its own terms. A lawyer is not

entitled to receive a preferential payment prior to conferring a tangible final benefit for his client. Proverbially, the sowing necessarily precedes the harvest before one can share in the harvest.

Appellant argues that the contract is unambiguous. Client agrees and goes even farther—the contract is crystal clear. Appellant never met the terms of the clear contract contingency which Appellant prepared: relief obtained by settlement or judgment.

B. The First Award, as Clarified, was Not a Final Judgment or Settlement.

The Arbitrator’s first award (R.p. 287) was, in its own terms, preliminary. It did not resolve the issue of the “prevailing party” and required future argument, briefing, submissions by the parties, consideration, deliberations, and proceedings. The Award states: “Any award of attorney fees and costs to the prevailing party is expressly reserved *for future consideration*.” Appellant and opposing counsel in the arbitration both acknowledged the fee issue was within the scope of the arbitration, and a matter for further attention of the empaneled and appointed arbitrator before any final result in the arbitration could ever occur (R.pp. 385, 391,398,403,618). The Arbitrator specifically and expressly retained jurisdiction to clarify the award and further interpret its scope and the jurisdiction of the arbitrator in the ongoing and continuing arbitration. On April 12, 2021, contrary to the premature declaration of Appellant that the “arbitration is over”, the Arbitrator issued a supplemental order: “I conclude that the Award is *not final* . . . I therefore further clarify the January 4, 2021, Award to expressly reserve jurisdiction over the DOT claim . . . jurisdiction exists to adjust the amount of the Award, if appropriate, *based on a final determination* . . . (emphasis added) (R.pp. 622-626). The arbitrator executed a final award, based on a settlement by and with the consent of all parties on November 12, 2021, which resolved all pending issues in the case, nine months after Appellant effectively withdrew from representing Client in the arbitration.

Thus, Appellant did not meet the required contingency or complete the full scope of services, even under the narrowest interpretation of Appellant's agreement.

C. Appellant's Witness Admitted the Initial Arbitration Award was not Final, Subject to Being Vacated, and, if Vacated, no Contingent Fee Would be due to Appellant.

According to Appellant's sole witness, Thomas Pope, the scope of the fee agreement covered "an arbitration" (i.e., one appearance in a single one-week hearing without any further representation for the Project²). Assuming, for the sake of argument, the Amended Fee Agreement limited the scope of representation to a single arbitration hearing and appearance, the preliminary arbitration award and subsequent clarification was not a final result or "recovery" by "settlement or judgment" as required in the fee agreement.

On cross examination, Mr. Pope confirmed that the claimant in the arbitration filed a motion to vacate the arbitration award which was pending in a separate Declaratory Judgment Action (the "D. J. Action"). Mr. Pope further acknowledged that if the Motion to Vacate were to be granted, the result would not be obtained, and Client would not owe any contingent fee (R.pp. 109-110). Therefore, the resolution and disposition of the pending motion to vacate the award was a condition precedent to achieving a final result in the case, even under Appellant's very narrow and restricted interpretation of the scope of legal services under its fee agreement. Appellant withdrew from both the arbitration³ and the D. J. Action *before the resolution of the Motion to Vacate* which occurred at final award on November 12, 2021, by final settlement through the

² The actual scope of representation, as Appellant's sole witness admitted on cross examination, included representation in both the Arbitration and the Declaratory Judgment case.

³ Appellant notified Client it would need to retain new counsel (Ex. 35) (R.p.) the same date Appellant sent the contested invoice for legal services based on the preliminary arbitration decision (Ex. 11) (R.p.), February 17, 2021. In the notice, Appellant agreed to "continue to handle the DJ action" and continue to represent Client on the attorney's fee issue. (see also Ex. 14 "the arbitration is over") (R.p.). Appellant did not conclude the DJ Action or Fee petition.

efforts of alternate counsel. Appellant did not meet the contingency because it did not finish the case.

D. Appellant Acknowledged and Conceded the Initial Arbitration Award Would Not Constitute a Final Judgment in Legal Pleadings Filed in the Declaratory Judgment Case.

On September 22, 2020, Appellant filed a Motion to Confirm an Arbitration Award that had not yet been issued in the D. J. Action (R.pp. 382-385). Setting aside the question of whether such a motion was ripe for consideration, the Motion acknowledged and conceded that: (a) Appellant knew that the anticipated initial award would not be final, (b) the attorney fee issue would remain undecided, and (c) “[t]his Court has the authority and jurisdiction to confirm the final award once it is issued by the Arbitrator”. Thus, Appellant was aware of the statutory procedure necessary to convert an arbitration award into a final judgment.

This anticipated and predicted sequence of events is precisely what occurred in the arbitration. After Appellant withdrew from the D. J. Action, there was indeed a final award, followed by a confirmation of the award. The uncontradicted testimony in the case is that Appellant was never terminated or discharged by Client. Had Appellant remained in the case, the final award would have triggered any contingent fee; however, Appellant had already withdrawn. Significant additional work remained in the case to reach this conclusion. Client’s witness testified that Client had no expectation or understanding that Appellant would refuse to proceed with the arbitration until after the initial award or that reserving the SCDOT claims would result in Appellant’s refusal to handle the remaining issues in the ongoing arbitration.

The clear and unequivocal statement from Appellant in Defendant’s Exhibit 35 (R.p. 618) that Client would need a “new attorney” placed Client in the untenable position of retaining new counsel at considerable expense. Changing lawyers is not like changing shoes. Appellant was

familiar not only with the arbitration but was the sole architect and master planner of the D.J. action which had become the bank vault repository of millions of dollars in lien bonds (R.pp. 608-617). Indeed, the costs to complete the work to the end totaled more than \$95,000.00 in additional legal fees because of Appellant's decision to declare early victory and withdraw from the case (R.p. 621).

E. Appellant's invoice and unilateral declaration that the Arbitration was "over" were premature, incomplete, and self-serving declarations of early victory.

The invoice for legal services, the foundation of the contract claim, was premature. The contingency—the successful result of the case—had not yet occurred when Appellant invoiced Client on February 17, 2021. Indeed, Appellant explained it sent the invoice to help bolster Client's claim for attorney's fees in the arbitration. However, Appellant calculated the fee based on an interim and incomplete ruling from the Arbitrator. The interim ruling was not only subject to adjustment and modifications, but it was under legal challenge in the D. J. Action, and it was later modified and adjusted, diminishing the benefit to the Client⁴.

Furthermore, even if the award stood without alteration or amendment, the preliminary award was not a settlement or judgment as a matter of law. Appellant ignores this reality. An arbitration award *is not a self-executing final judgment or settlement*. Under the South Carolina Uniform Arbitration Act, the decision of an arbitrator may be (a) confirmed, (b) vacated, or (c) modified. It is not a judgment of the court until a timely motion to vacate or modify the award is denied and the award is confirmed as a judgment by a court of law.⁵ The applicable statutory provisions make this abundantly clear:

⁴ Client settled the first portion of the arbitration and paid \$2,950,000 to the arbitration claimant, not the \$2,640,715, upon which Appellant calculated the "savings" for its reverse contingency fee computation. Clearly the claim was unliquidated at the time Appellant submitted the premature invoice. (*see* interest discussion, *infra*. Section III).

⁵ The Federal Arbitration Act has similar provisions. See 9 U.S.C §9-12. Of course, the parties could willingly settle and pay an award without this formality, but settlement did not occur until months after Appellant withdrew from the D. J. action and refused to proceed further in the arbitration.

SECTION 15-48-120. Confirmation of an award.

Upon application of a party, the court shall confirm an award, unless within the time limits hereinafter imposed grounds are urged for vacating or modifying or correcting the award, in which case the court shall proceed as provided in Sections 15-48-130 and 15-48-140.

SECTION 15-48-130. Vacating an award.

(a) Upon application of a party, the court shall vacate an award where:

(1) The award was procured by corruption, fraud or other undue means;

(2) There was evident partiality by an arbitrator appointed as a neutral or corruption in any of the arbitrators or misconduct prejudicing the rights of any party;

(3) The arbitrators exceeded their powers;

(4) The arbitrators refused to postpone the hearing upon sufficient cause being shown therefor or refused to hear evidence material to the controversy or otherwise so conducted the hearing, contrary to the provisions of Section 15-48-50, as to prejudice substantially the rights of a party; or

(5) There was no arbitration agreement and the issue was not adversely determined in proceedings under Section 15-48-20 and the party did not participate in the arbitration hearing without raising the objection;

But the fact that the relief was such that it could not or would not be granted by a court of law or equity is not ground for vacating or refusing to confirm the award.

(b) An application under this section shall be made within ninety days after delivery of a copy of the award to the applicant, except that, if predicated upon corruption, fraud, or other undue means, it shall be made within ninety days after such grounds are known or should have been known.

(c) In vacating the award on grounds other than stated in item (5) of subsection (a) the court may order a rehearing before new arbitrators chosen as provided in the agreement, or in the absence thereof, by the court in accordance with Section 15-48-30, or, if the award is vacated on grounds set forth in items (3) and (4) of subsection (a) the court may order a rehearing before the arbitrators who made the award or their successors appointed in accordance with Section 15-48-30. The time within which the agreement requires the award to be made is applicable to the rehearing and commences from the date of the order.

(d) If the application to vacate is denied and no motion to modify or correct the award is pending, the court shall confirm the award.

SECTION 15-48-140. Modification or correction of award.

(a) Upon application made within ninety days after delivery of a copy of the award to the applicant, the court shall modify or correct the award where:

(1) There was an evident miscalculation of figures or an evident mistake in the description of any person, thing or property referred to in the award;

(2) The arbitrators have awarded upon a matter not submitted to them and the award may be corrected without affecting the merits of the decision upon the issues submitted; or

(3) The award is imperfect in a matter of form, not affecting the merits of the controversy.

(b) If the application is granted, the court shall modify and correct the award so as to effect its intent and shall confirm the award as so modified and corrected. Otherwise, the court shall confirm the award as made.

(c) An application to modify or correct an award may be joined in the alternative with an application to vacate the award.

SECTION 15-48-150. Judgment or decree on award.

Upon the granting of an order confirming, modifying, or correcting an award, judgment or decree shall be entered in conformity therewith and be enforced as any other judgment or decree. Costs of the application and of the proceedings subsequent thereto, and disbursements may be awarded by the court. (emphasis added).

In the case at hand, Appellant moved for confirmation of the award per S.C. Code Ann. § 15-48-120. Opposing counsel filed a timely motion to vacate per S.C. Code Ann. § 15-48-130. Appellant withdrew from the case before the resolution of either motion. No judgment or obligation could ensue as a matter of law until resolution of the competing motions. Nonetheless, Appellant sent an invoice to Client based upon an incorrect computation before the resolution of either motion. Replacement counsel completed the arbitration and the pending motions in the D. J. Action many months after Appellant issued the invoice for the full contingent fee.

Even assuming Appellant was engaged on a limited scope for “an arbitration”, at the time Appellant issued its invoice, Appellant’s unfinished business included: (a) the remaining issues in the arbitration case: the final award of attorney’s fees and costs, (b) the resolution of the pending motions to vacate and/or confirm the award, and (c) the DJ action in which the arbitration motions were embedded. Client was forced to resolve all these issues without Appellant’s representation with alternate legal counsel.

F. Plaintiff Withdrew From Representation of Defendant before Completing the Full Scope of its Representation; Therefore, the Plaintiff did not Earn the Contingent Fee.

According to the Amended Fee Agreement, Plaintiff’s scope of work included employment “to represent Client as legal counsel for purposes in connection with the project known as

Brookland in West Columbia, South Carolina that is under construction by Carter & Carter Construction, LLC.” The agreement notes the claim is subject to “an arbitration” but it nowhere states that Attorney’s scope is limited to certain issues, a number of appearances, a limited stage of proceedings, or a limited number of hearings. *Id.* To the contrary, the agreement contemplates handling matters “arising out of the Client’s claims against Contractor or other parties to any proceeding covered by this Fee Agreement.” *Id.* A prudent Client could never deduce from the agreement and the course of dealing that it had engaged Appellant on a limited “a la carte” basis, opening itself up to the obligation to pay huge contingent fee and nonetheless engage new lawyers to complete the work another law firm started. The facts of the case are contrary to such an unreasonable limitation of Appellant’s scope of work.

It is undisputed that Appellant’s scope of work included completion of the D. J. Action. Appellant’s testimony on this point is completely uncontradicted. Appellant’s expert also acknowledged that Appellant billed hourly fees to the D. J. action and Appellant was paid for the work (R.pp. 538-607). Appellant acknowledged its responsibility for the work, even after it claimed the arbitration was “over” (R.p. 618). Appellant remained sole counsel of record in the D. J. action, fully responsible for that scope of work as a matter of law, until it unilaterally demanded to be relieved as counsel.⁶

⁶ While Appellant claims it was constructively discharged from the work based on claims that Henry Brown agreed to assume responsibility for the case, neither Mr. Brown nor his firm ever made a formal appearance in the DJ case. Until formally relieved, Appellant in fact remained fully responsible to Client regardless of any statements from Mr. Brown who would ultimately leave the case for health reasons (to have a heart transplant). *See Ex Parte Strom*, 334 S.C. 257, 539 S.E. 2d 699 (2000). Furthermore, Mr. Brown’s email suggesting he would assume responsibility for the DJ case occurred subsequent to Appellant’s refusal to participate further in the arbitration case and incorrect assumption that the arbitration was “over”. Additionally, Client and attorney did not reach any agreement on the remaining scope of Appellant’s responsibilities during that call. (“Bundy: So, you’re going to take over the arbitration, whatever is left of it and whatever follows. What about the current case in Common Pleas. Mundy: I don’t think that’s what’s been agreed to, and its still on the table. So, I’ll interject there.... the arbitration is not over yet.... Bundy: Well, I’m certainly not going to do it....” The parties were at impasse: “Bundy: ...if we have a dispute later about whether I’m in breach of contract for failing to do what I said I was going to do, then that’s just what we’ll have.” The full context of the Brown communication is also found in the audio portion of the record. In the full context, Appellant unilaterally declared the arbitration over, leaving the Client with a need to retain new counsel

From the record and testimony, it is manifest that:

1. Appellant did not participate or complete the remaining arbitration which involved the same parties, same project, same arbitrator, same witnesses, and same issues. The arbitration was not in fact “over” but rather continuing, and the Client had no appreciation or understanding that Appellant would declare an end to the case until February 2021. However, for whatever reason, Appellant decided to terminate representation of the Client in the arbitration on February 17th, 2021, “Our fee agreement does not include another arbitration...” (R.p. 618). Appellant also incorrectly forecasted that the arbitration was “over.” This plainly occurred prior to meeting the contingency.⁷
2. Appellant did not complete the companion proceeding (the D. J. Action) which was within Appellant’s scope of work and for which Appellant had been compensated in part. Nonetheless, Appellant insisted that it be relieved as counsel in that Action. Furthermore, the outcome of the Arbitration was inextricably tied to the outcome of the D. J. Action. Without resolution of the D. J. Action, the Arbitration could not become final, and the Client could not extricate its assets from the Clerk of Court.
3. The final settlement and outcome of the Arbitration and D. J. Action occurred through alternate representation at considerable additional cost to Client.
4. Appellant withdrew from both the Arbitration and the Declaratory Judgment Action before the matters were complete in the sense of settlement, judgment, or recovery.

to finish the arbitration. The arbitrator in fact determined the arbitration was not “over.” Thus, client was placed in the awkward position of finishing at least part of the arbitration Appellant started with new counsel. Meanwhile, Client had, upon the advice and recommendation of Appellant, posted cash bonds of more than seven million dollars which needed to be resolved in the D. J. Action.

⁷ Even if Client constructively terminated client, it would not change the result. Under the rules, Client may discharge a lawyer at any time, subject to the obligation to pay reasonable fees. If termination occurred prior to the contingency, Appellant’s fees must be “reasonable.” *See* South Carolina Rules of Appellate Procedure, Rule 407. Model Rule 1.5 comment [1].

5. Within 90 days of the final resolution of the D. J. Action, Client paid Appellant an additional \$150,000.00 computed based on Appellant's initial hourly rates computed from Appellant's estimated hours. Appellant has been compensated for more than \$250,000.00 for legal fees in this case. The uncontracted testimony is that Client accepted Appellant's estimated hours. According to Appellant: "\$117,960.00 of billable hours was spent . . . essentially preparation for and attendance at the Arbitration hearing . . . further at least 100 hours in additional hours were spent in additional time" (R.p. 478). Client paid the \$117,960 at face value based on the time records. Client then paid additional sums to law firm⁸, based on the ratio of hours between Bundy and McDonald. The additional payment was based, in part, on Appellant's time records and normal hourly fees to the extent Appellant kept records and Appellant's estimate of "at least 100 hours" to the extent Appellant did not keep accurate time records. Thus, the Trial Court correctly applied principles of contract law in finding that Appellant did not meet the contingency contemplated by its agreement. Appellant has been more than compensated for its work and is not owed any additional funds. Accordingly, Respondent requests that this Court affirm the decision of the Trial Court.

II. THE TRIAL JUDGE'S ORDER SATISFIED THE REQUIREMENTS OF RULE 52(A), SCRPC.

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